Oregon Historic Site Record

LOCATION AND PROPERTY NAME

address: 2077 Willamette St historic name: Eugene Civic Stadium
Eugene, Lane County (97402) current/other names:

assoc addresses: block/lot/tax lot:

location descr: twnshp/rng/sect/qtr sect: 17S 3W 31

PROPERTY CHARACTERISTICS

resource type: Structure height (stories): 1.0 total elig resources: 1 total inelig resources: 0
elig evaluation: demolished NR Status: Delisted
prim constr date: 1938 second date: 1939 date indiv listed: 10/06/2008
primary orig use: RECR/CULTURE: General orig use comments: stadium
second orig use:
primary style: Not Applicable prim style comments:
secondary style: sec style comments:
primary siding: Wood Sheet siding comments:
secondary siding:
plan type: architect: Graham B. Smith
builder: West Coast Lumberman's Assocation
comments/notes:

Note: Owner contact address is different in db than what is on nomination; this is for corresponding purposes only; expecting comments for Eugene 4J by mid-week (ck
12/17/2007). 6/29/15 A major fire destroyed the entire building.

GROUPINGS / ASSOCIATIONS

Not associated with any surveys or groupings.

SHPO INFORMATION FOR THIS PROPERTY

NR date listed: ~ 10/06/2008 106 Project(s): None
ILS survey date: Spe_cial Assess None
RLS survey Project(s):
date: Fed_eral Tax None
Gen file date:  06/19/2007 Rroject(s):

ARCHITECTURAL / PROPERTY DESCRIPTION

(Includes expanded description of the building/property, setting, significant landscape features, outbuildings and alterations)

DESCRIPTION Eugene Civic Stadium, popularly known as “Civic,” is located at 2077 Willamette Street, in Eugene, Lane County, Oregon. Civic was dedicated on
October 21, 1938, and hosted its first event on October 28, 1938, when the annual Eugene-Corvallis High School football skirmish was played on the original clay and
sawdust field. Designed predominantly for football and baseball, the site has traditionally served as a multipurpose facility. Hosting everything from soccer to rodeo, the
Eugene Civic Stadium continues to serve the community as home to the Eugene Emeralds, a minor-league baseball team, as well as the current home for local soccer
league practices. The nominated area is comprised of approximately 3.75 acres located on the east side of Willamette Street between 20th and 22nd Avenues and
consists of the grandstand and field. The nominated area is a portion of tax lot #1803061108505, which is historically associated with Eugene Civic Stadium and has
been continuously owned and operated by the 4J Public School District since 1938. Eugene Civic Stadium is nominated under Criterion A for its association with Works
Progress Administration (WPA) activities and community development in Eugene. It is also nominated under Criterion C for its architectural style, which is indicative of
depression-era ballparks constructed in the Pacific Northwest. SETTING To the west of the stadium, across Willamette Street, lies the College Hill residential district.
The district is named for Columbia College, established in 1855 by the Cumberland Presbyterian Church, when the town of Eugene was two years old. Unfortunately,
Columbia College survived only four years, a victim of administrative conflicts over the issues of slavery and the imminent Civil War. Those four years, however, saw
the construction of two buildings, both of which were later destroyed by fire with arson as the suspected cause. Reversing its ill-fated beginnings, College Hill has been
and continues to be one of the most desirable neighborhoods in Eugene. The gradual east slope of College Hill terminates at the back of the stadium seats, which
roughly mimic the grade of the hill and culminate in the flat surface of the field. The area adjacent to the grandstand to the west (east of Willamette Street), but outside
of the nominated area currently houses six non-historic, temporary concession stands and a ticket booth. Similarly, the area immediately adjacent to the grandstand to
the north, but outside of the nominated area, contains two non-historic ticket booths. North of the stadium is made up primarily of a large parking lot and areas of vacant
land. This area is the remnants of the 4J School District Bus Barn complex, which was relocated to a larger facility elsewhere in Eugene. There are also five other
buildings north of the stadium that were constructed outside of the period of significance. To the east, across Amazon Parkway (also Pearl Street), is South Eugene
High School and its accompanying athletic fields. A small commercial office complex abuts the property line to the south. GRANDSTAND The wooden grandstand is an
L-shaped structure designed by local Eugene architect Graham Braden Smith. Smith attended the University of Oregon from 1915 until 1919, later working for John
Hunzicker in 1925. He became a partner in the firm in 1927, as did Truman E. Phillips in 1929, forming the firm of Hunzicker, Smith & Phillips. This partnership was
dissolved in 1931, and Smith practiced alone for the remainder of his career. Smith was a member of the American Institute of Architects and is also known for Nyssa
School at Nyssa, Oregon (built 1950), and the Guard Publishing Company building in Eugene (built 1952). The asymmetrical shape of the grandstand is indicative of the
stadium’s original intention as a multi-use facility, specifically featuring football. The main entrance is centered on the east elevation, and was designed to place a visitor
directly on the 50-yard line for a football game. The design bears a marked resemblance to “Typical Design No. 109: Grandstand” as published by the Timber
Engineering Company in the book Typical Designs of Timber Structures: A Reference for Use by Architects and Engineers. The west elevation has a concrete
foundation wall with “2 pipe weep holes spaced 12’0” on center” to accommodate for drainage from College Hill. The foundation construction method of the grandstand
is post-on-pier, with concrete footings laid on graded earth. The solid 8- by 8-inch Douglas fir posts are of varying height, and are consistently crossed braced with 2- by
6-inch board and horizontally braced with 2- by10-inch board, also of Douglas fir. The bracings are held in place by at least three nails at each cross bracing, at least
four nails at each horizontal bracing, and reinforcing steel. The grandstand seating was constructed of 1- by 4-inch flooring topped by 2- by 12-inch boards where the
seating is covered by the roof, and Y4-inch spaced 2- by 3-inch boards topped by 2- by-12 inch boards where the seating is not covered. The seating-side of the
structure was originally clad with channel rustic horizontal wood siding, which remains fully intact and in good condition beneath the seating on the south and east
elevations. The walls just beneath the roofline (above and behind the seating) appear to have been initially clad in vertical wood beadboard siding, and is still intact at
the roofline in the seating sections. The slope of the stadium seating is determined by the manner of construction, which consists of 2-foot 4-inch horizontal seats and
1-foot 3-inch vertical drops, for a slope of 28:15 inches, approximately 1.87. Originally built without covering, the roof of the grandstand was completed by the beginning
of the 1939 football season. Designed by the West Coast Lumberman’s Association of Seattle, Washington, in August and September 1938, the wooden “transverse hip
truss” roof and all of its timber connectors were manufactured by the Timber Engineering Company and installed according to their recommendations. The design for
the transverse hip truss system is also featured in Typical Designs of Timber Structures as “Design 109A: Grandstand Roof.” Split rings, pressed steel shear plates, and
standard machine bolts marked “7/8 Malleable” were used in the construction of the Grandstand roof, which is finished with asphalt shingles. A tongue-in-groove
wooden beadboard siding was installed to the upper portion of the stands just beneath the roof, interspersed with horizontal louvered openings for ventilation. The basic
structure of the stadium remained unchanged until 1969, when the school district leased the facility to the Eugene Emeralds, a minor league baseball team.
Modifications were made to make the stadium suitable for professional baseball, including installing new turf, adding sound-deadening materials, and doubling the
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stadium’s lighting system, but which do not compromise the overall integrity of the original structure. It was in 1969 that two large light standards and 800 wooden,
theatre-style box seats were purchased from River Island Stadium (now demolished), which had been home to the San Diego Padres. The light standards were added
to the roof of the Grandstand on the east elevation. The box seats were also added at this time, placed on risers in front of the original stands. These were not under
the roof of the stadium, and as such had to be replaced in 1986 by the current “blue-box” riser seats, so called because they are made of blue plastic. This additional
seating does not compromise the grandstand construction, as it is sensitively attached to the original structure and fully reversible. Public bathrooms and team locker
rooms were placed in a cinderblock shed-roof addition to the north side of the grandstand in 1969, and a small, one-story, shed roof addition was also constructed on
the west side of the grandstand, and is situated between the grandstand and a detached heating plant. Although these one-story shed roof additions are
non-compatible additions, they are inconspicuous and do not compromise the integrity of the grandstand. Today, the wead south elevations are clad in 8- by 4-foot
plywood boards, which are believed to be the original cladding though the date of its installation is unknown. The outfield fence is comprised of the same 8- by 4-foot
plywood boards. The field is often lovingly groomed for Emerald’s games by the groundskeepers, mowed in elaborate checkerboard patterns. A metal, hand-turned
scoreboard is still used today and is considered an icon of the stadium. As of opening day 2006, Eugene Civic Stadium was the 11th oldest minor league ballpark in the
United States, and was within the top ten by opening day 2007. ALTERATIONS In 1969, the Eugene Emeralds, a minor league ball team, became the primary lessees
of Eugene Civic Stadium. At this time, minor modifications were made to the grandstand to make the stadium more appropriate for its new use as an AAA minor league
ballpark. Upgrades to the irrigation system and field were completed, and the concession area paved. Other improvements ranged from adding public restrooms and
locker rooms, to new paint and fencing. A metal, hand-turned score board, which adds to the character of the park, was also installed. It is believed that the rooftop
press box was removed at this time. A new press box clad in board-and-batten siding was installed in the curve of the L-shaped grandstand seating beneath the roof
covering. Two large light standards and 800 wooden, theatre-style box seats purchased from the soon-to-be-demolished River Island Stadium, which had been home
to the San Diego Padres minor league team since 1936, were also installed. The light standards were added to the roof of the grandstand, and the box seats were
placed on risers in front of the original stands to allow for additional seating. This seating, placed in front of the original grandstand seating on the ground, was not
beneath the roof covering and suffered significant damage through the years. These wooden seats were replaced in 1986 with blue plastic riser seating in the same
location, which are minimally attached and non-damaging to the original fabric of the grandstand siding. Wooden platforms and ramps were added in the early 1990s on
the northeast and south sides of the grandstand. Other buildings outside of the nominated area were added to the site over the years. These include a detached
heating plant constructed in 1941 to the west of the grandstand, a garage and living quarters built in 1946, and a maintenance office constructed in the early 1950s,
both located northeast of the grandstand. Six concession shacks were constructed (dates unknown) on the western side of the grandstand along Willamette Street, and
two additional at both the northeast and southern ends of the grandstand “L.” These are non-historic, temporary structures outside of the nominated area, as are the
three ticket booths, one located at the west entrance along Willamette Street, the other two directly in front of the bathroom addition on the north side. Even with the
continued improvements, Eugene Civic Stadium retains integrity of location, setting, materials, design, workmanship, feeling and association. FUTURE
REHABILITATION PLANS Since 1991, the 4J Public School District has commissioned several studies of Eugene Civic Stadium, ranging from structural evaluations to
ADA compliance. The scopes of the studies vary, but the general consensus is that the grandstand is in good condition, though it is in immediate need of a new roof.
Seismic retrofitting of the structure has been suggested, specifically attaching the large timber framing members and roof supports to their concrete footings. At this
time, the footings and timbers are not connected, which could cause the timbers to slip in the event of an earthquake. In addition, the current function of the facility as a
professional minor league ballpark comes with certain minimum standards that require compliance, ranging from the “candles” of light on the field during a night game to
the quality of the locker rooms. The current lights and locker room facilities are dated and unsuitable to a professional minor league team. In addition, umpire changing
areas, offices, and storage areas have been enclosed under the grandstand over the years. Though these enclosures do not affect the integrity of the grandstand itself,
the result is hardly suitable to accommodate the necessary functions. The grandstand was built as just that, an outdoor recreational facility that was only limitedly meant
to house offices or living spaces. If the Eugene Emeralds are to continue to play at Eugene Civic Stadium, major upgrades to the site will be required to fully bring the
facility up to current codes and standards.

HISTORY

(Chronological, descriptive history of the property from its construction through at least the historic period - preferably to the present)

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE SUMMARY Located in Lane County, Eugene Civic Stadium is the only known example of a Depression Era ballpark left in the state
of Oregon. Eugene Civic Stadium was built in 1938 on the east side of Willamette Street in Eugene, between 20th and 22nd Avenues. Built as a cooperative between
the Eugene Chamber of Commerce, Eugene Public School District No. 4, and the Works Progress Administration (WPA), Civic Stadium is significant to the
development of the nation’s favorite pastime, and is one of the oldest extant ballparks in the United States. Continuously used as a municipal athletic facility since its
inception, Eugene Civic Stadium meets National Register Criterion A for its initial and continued contribution to the entertainment and recreational needs of Eugene and
the surrounding communities in the Pacific Northwest. The stadium also meets Criterion A for its distinctive characteristics of community planning and development,
which brought the government and community together during the Depression Era. Eugene Civic Stadium is also eligible for listing in the National Register under
Criterion C for its architecture, being typical of Depression Era stadiums constructed throughout the Pacific Northwest. Civic Stadium bears a marked resemblance to the
Grandstand design illustrated by the Timber Engineering Company in the book Typical Designs of Timber Structures: A Reference for Use by Architects and Engineers
under the heading of “Typical Design No. 109: Grandstand.” Eugene Civic Stadium retains excellent integrity of design, setting, materials, workmanship, location,
feeling and association. The period of significance begins with its initial construction date of 1938 and ends in 1939 when the roof was constructed. THE WPA AND
EUGENE CIVIC STADIUM The 4J Public School District has been the sole proprietor of Eugene Civic Stadium since its construction in 1938. The land where Civic
Stadium is located, known as the Amazon tract, was deeded to the school district in 1938 with the understanding that the property was “to be used as a recreation area
for School District and for the municipality.” Area businesses provided many of the necessary materials, and a regional campaign spearheaded by the Eugene City
School District and the local community raised additional money for the stadium, enabling the project to break ground in 1938. The labor for the construction of the
stadium was donated by the Works Project Administration (WPA). The Great Depression of the 1930s resulted in massive unemployment throughout the country.
Initiated by President F.D. Roosevelt as a relief measure to combat the effects of the Depression, the WPA provided jobs to accomplished laborers yielding public
projects that utilized the skills of the nation by 1935. The program was designed to provide work for the unemployed and to aid in subsidizing costs associated with new
construction or repairs of public works projects. Essentially, the federal program enabled large scale projects on small scale budgets, donating time and labor to
communities across the country for nearly a decade. By the time the program was disbanded in June 1943, it had employed over 8.5 million people and completed well
over one million projects. In Lane County, Oregon, the WPA completed numerous public improvement projects, including distributing hot lunches to needy children,
improving roads and sanitation systems, and rebinding books. In 1935, the WPA made major repairs to Eugene City Hall. In 1936, the WPA was involved in landscaping
portions of the University of Oregon campus and making improvements to Skinner Butte and Hendricks Parks. Nearly all of the WPA building projects in Lane County
were done in coordination with the schools, including high school gymnasiums for School Districts #12 and #133 in 1938, an addition to the Architecture and Allied Arts
Building at the University of Oregon in 1939, and a music building for School District 4J in 1940. By far the largest civic improvement project completed by the WPA in
Lane County, however, was Civic Stadium, with a total of over $37,000 appropriated for the project in 1938. By 1937 there was a growing need for an athletic field in
Eugene, both for the community and schools. On December 3, 1937, the Eugene Register-Guard printed the first article referencing the “Big Amazon Park Project.” By
December 8, 1937, a committee had been formed by the Eugene Chamber of Commerce and plans were being formulated for a new athletic field to be built through
the cooperation of the Chamber Committee, the Eugene Public School Board, and the Eugene City Council. By December 24, 1937, the WPA was reported to be
interested in the development and building of the recreation center. On January 11, 1938, the Register-Guard presented the facts regarding the financial plans for the
new athletic field. The city council was asked to turn over the land known as the Amazon tract, which was held for $6,000 in back taxes. The school board was asked to
contribute $6,000, and the committee guaranteed to raise another $6,000 so the first year work could be completed. The WPA was set to contribute the labor. The
$12,000 contributed by the school board and the committee would be enough to grade the field and build the covered grandstand, which would seat 4,000 people. On
January 26, 1938, the Register-Guard reported the “Park Project is Threatened by Deadlock.” The concern of who would pay the $6,000 in back tax assessments, the
city or the school board, seemed to spell the end of the project. Without the deed from the city, the school board was concerned that they would not be able to secure
the WPA for the project. The controversy lasted months, until it was decided to put the vote to the community. On Friday, May 20, 1938, Eugene citizens went to the
polls to vote on the issue to levy a one-half mill tax to repay the debt of $6,000 in outstanding liens to the property. Voters approved the project by an almost 2-1 margin,
enabling the proposed athletic field to move forward. The title to the Amazon tract was deeded over to Eugene Public School District 4J on June 13, 1938 to “be used as
a recreation area for the School District and for the municipality.” Eugene Civic Stadium would never have been constructed without the display of outstanding public
support it received and the cooperation of the numerous civic agencies involved. This unique cohesion of community development and city planning illustrates the
camaraderie apparent in WPA projects built throughout the country during the Depression Era. Essentially, the stadium helped bring both the government and
community together during these difficult times. On May 15, 1938, just prior to the special election, the Eugene Register-Guard presented a plan to the public for the
proposed development of the Amazon tract area. The proposed site would include a football and baseball field and grandstand, track field, swimming pool, tennis
courts, shuffle board and Ping-Pong courts. The plan was to begin on the football and baseball field first, with the other areas being developed later. Work began on
June 21, 1938, with Jay F. Oldham contracted to grade the land. Graham Smith, a local of Eugene, was named architect for the grandstand, the plans of which were
approved in July. Smith, along with the manpower of the WPA, utilized local old growth Douglas fir exclusively in the construction of the grandstand. The work was
completed in mid-September, and a dedication ceremony featuring the Eugene High School marching band was held on October 22, 1938. The first event at Civic
Stadium, the annual rivalry football match between Eugene High and Corvallis High, was held on October 28, 1938. The grandstand still did not have a roof, and both
players and fans were rain-soaked by the end of the game. The match, played on the clay and sawdust field, ended in a 0-0 tie. By the 1939 football season, floodlights
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and the grandstand roof had been erected at Civic Stadium. The roof was designed by the West Coast Lumberman’s Association of Seattle, Washington, and utilizes
the same local, old growth Douglas fir that can be fbimthe grandstand construction. Plans for the other parts of the athletic complex never materialized and the land was
developed into South Eugene High School. Eugene Civic Stadium was primarily home to high school football, baseball and soccer games between 1938 and 1969. The
stadium was designed as a multi-use facility, and converted easily for various types of sporting events. Eugene Civic Stadium has been home to numerous high school
ball games, graduations, 4th of July celebrations and even rodeos throughout the years, and continues to serve as a multi-purpose facility hosting baseball and soccer
events. In 1941 a heating plant, a small ancillary building with an 880 gallon water tank, was added to the site, which initially acted as the sole source for hot water at
the stadium, and serviced the locker and bath rooms by utilizing sawdust to run the boiler. Another building followed in 1946 that served as a repair garage for the
school district’s bus depot and living quarters. With the stadium operating both Saturday night and Sunday afternoon for hardball games and at least twice a week for
softball, the groundskeeper was on duty 24 hours. Recognizing that this was a full time job, the school district built two apartments above the garage, one for the
groundskeeper and his family and the other likely for bus drivers or the manager for the bus barn. Other permanent and temporary buildings, including ticket booths and
concessions stands, have also been added to the site since the 1960s and 1970s. In 1969, Civic Stadium became home to Eugene’s own minor league baseball team,
the Emeralds. Upgraded to the Class AAA Pacific Coast League, the Eugene Emeralds required a larger facility than they currently had, and sought the assistance of
the Eugene School District when plans to build a new stadium were unsuccessful. Baseball had not been played at Civic Stadium in over twenty years, but the team
was granted a three-year lease to use and improve the stadium. Currently, the Eugene Emeralds are ranked as one of the most popular teams of the Northwest
League, having drawn no less than 100,000 fans per year since 1985. As of opening day 2006, Eugene Civic Stadium was the 11th Oldest Minor League Ballpark in the
United States, and was within the top ten by opening day 2007. It is the third oldest minor league stadium in use west of the Rocky Mountains. Civic Stadium is a place
where a community enjoys America’s favorite pastime every summer, and is a part of Eugene’s living history. SIGNIFICANCE AND INTEGRITY Civic Stadium is
nominated under National Register Criterion A for its initial and continued contribution to the entertainment and recreational needs of Eugene and for its distinctive
characteristics of community planning, which brought the government and community together during the Depression Era. Since its original design plan was released to
the public in 1938, Eugene Civic Stadium has been regarded as a signature athletic facility for municipal use. Owned continuously by the Eugene Public School District
4J, the initial function of the stadium as a municipal recreation facility is still observed today as host to the Eugene Emeralds, as well as various local and high school
baseball and soccer teams. The site was developed in conjunction with the WPA, the Chamber of Commerce, Eugene School District No. 4, and the public at large. This
illustration of community camaraderie is representative of Depression Era projects built by the WPA in the United States in the late 1930s. This durable, useful structure
constructed of local materials by local craftsmen with local funds illustrates the ability of multiple institutions to work together on a local level. The involvement of the
WPA demonstrates how federal programs can work with individual communities to establish a public facility that has remained a continuous piece of America’s living
history. In addition, Eugene Civic Stadium is eligible for the National Register under Criterion C as being typical of stadiums built during the Depression Era in the
Pacific Northwest. In 1930, the Timber Engineering Company published the book Typical Designs of Timber Structures: A Reference for Use by Architects and
Engineers. Under the heading of “Typical Design No. 109: Grandstand” is illustrated a prototype for a municipal grandstand and its accompanying transverse hip truss
roof. Both the roof and the grandstand are nearly identical in form and structure to Eugene Civic Stadium. Stadiums like Eugene Civic Stadium were built in conjunction
with local organizations, such as the West Coast Lumberman’s Association, throughout the Pacific Northwest. Unfortunately, these beautiful wooden grandstands have
fallen victim to progress and neglect, and many have been demolished to make room for more modern facilities. Eugene Civic Stadium is the only wooden grandstand
of this type remaining in Oregon, and one of only two known remaining in the Pacific Northwest (the other is Olympic Stadium, located in Hoquiam, Washington).
Overall, Eugene Civic Stadium retains excellent integrity of design, setting, materials, workmanship, location, feeling and association. While the neighborhood has
undergone massive development over the last eighty years, the site once known as the Amazon tract is still surrounded by neighborhoods and is used as a municipal
recreation facility. South Eugene High School, with its own athletic fields, has been constructed due west of Eugene Civic Stadium on a portion of the land initially laid
out for the athletic facility. The rest of the land has been developed into Amazon Park, a city park featuring soccer and football fields, as well as jogging and biking trails
and a dog park. Eugene Civic Stadium also retains integrity of materials, workmanship, design, feeling, and association. Little has been done to alter the timber frame
construction that exists under the grandstand. The old growth Douglas fir has needed little maintenance over the years and remains in excellent condition. The quality
of construction is also tested every summer, when thousands of fans fill the seats, stomping and roaring to cheer on the Eugene Emeralds. Integrity of workmanship is
also retained, specifically in regards to its unique method of construction utilizing local, old growth Douglas fir, local designers and architects, and local labor during
construction. Additionally, the stadium has retained its designed use as a multi-purpose recreational facility, and is still utilized in its intended fashion as an athletic park
hosting baseball, both local teams as well as the Eugene Emeralds, and soccer. COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS Eugene Civic Stadium can be compared with three
different categories of properties: 1) other stadiums in the Pacific Northwest; 2) other WPA-built stadiums in the United States; and 3) all other minor league ballparks in
the United States. Overall, Eugene Civic Stadium bears a marked resemblance to Olympic Stadium of Hoquiam, Washington, built in 1938. Olympic Stadium is roughly
U-shaped and larger in size, with a seating capacity of around 10,000 people (Civic seats approximately 6,000 people in the grandstand). Olympic Stadium was listed in
the National Register in 2006, features the same wooden post-on-pier construction, and was also constructed in conjunction with the WPA. Both parks are likely drawn
from the same plates of the book Typical Designs for Timber Structures. Olympic Stadium retains its historic integrity, although the facility is not currently in use. Another
comparable property is National Register-listed Jay Littleton Park, located in Ontario, California. This facility is listed as the only known comparable property for Olympic
Stadium in that stadium’s National Register nomination. Built between 1935 and 1937, the wooden grandstand is also roughly U-shaped and seats 3,500 fans. The
facility was constructed for baseball only, and was the location for filming parts of the movie The Babe. Like Eugene Civic Stadium, Jay Littleton Park features an
all-wooden grandstand. PGE Park, located in Portland, Oregon, is another multi-purpose facility located in the Pacific Northwest. A ré8&rf million renovation in
2000-2001 helped make PGE Park one of the finest stadiums in both the Pacific Coast Minor League Baseball League and the United Soccer League. PGE Park is
home to the Portland Beavers AAA baseball team and the Portland Timbers, a member of the United Soccer Leagues First Division. PGE Park was originally built in
1926, but has undergone extensive alterations over the years, including the recent renovation which debuted to the public on April 30, 2001. Though the park
advertises “Old Time Feel, State of the Art Features,” the past and recent renovations have severely compromised the historical integrity of the structure. The second
basis for comparison is on a national scale, with other ballparks constructed in conjunction with the WPA. While dozens of stadiums were built in partnership with local
organizations by the WPA during the Depression Era, analyzing them for the scope of this nomination is not feasible. A few notable examples include Ray Winder Field,
constructed in Little Rock, Arkansas in 1932; Recreation Park, constructed in Montpelier, Vermont in 1940; and Phil Welch Stadium, constructed in St. Joseph, Missouri
also in 1940. Historic integrity on these three parks has not been determined. In addition, none of them appear to be constructed in the same manner, with large scale
timbers, as Eugene Civic Stadium. The third basis for comparison is to look at other minor league ballparks in the United States, since Eugene Civic Stadium is currently
hosting the Eugene Emeralds baseball team. As of opening day 2006, Eugene Civic Stadium was the 11th oldest minor league ballpark in the United States. However,
with the Arkansas Travelers relocating to a new field, Civic Stadium was within the top ten oldest stadiums by opening day 2007. CONCLUSION Eugene Civic Stadium
is significant on a local level as a continuously functioning municipal athletic facility built in conjunction with the WPA. Civic Stadium meets National Register Criterion A
for its initial and continued contribution to the entertainment and recreational needs of Eugene and the surrounding communities. The stadium also meets Criterion A for
its distinctive characteristics of community planning and development. In addition, Eugene Civic Stadium meets National Register Criterion C for its architecture, which
was typical of the designs of ballparks built in association with the Timber Engineering Company throughout the Pacific Northwest. The design known as “Typical Design
No. 109: Grandstand” is now exceedingly rare. Eugene Civic Stadium is nearly perfectly intact and is one of only two known remaining stadiums of this type. Eugene
Civic Stadium has been continuously owned and operated by the Eugene Public School District 4J since the land was deeded from the city in 1938. It has continuously
served as a multi-purpose athletic facility for the municipality, and is a part of the living history of both Eugene and the nation. The sight of the hand turned score board,
the feel of the old wooden grandstand, and the smell of the grass of the field transport people back to a time when war and financial woes could be escaped from, if
only for a moment, at the ballpark.
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